THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

---

RECEIVED

OCT 03 2019

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
Post Conviction Relief

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Honorable Walton J. McLeod, IV, Circuit Court Judge

---

App. Case No: 2019-001060

---

Andrew E. Torrence,

Petitioner,

vs.

State of South Carolina,

Respondent.

---

PETITION FOR  
WRIT OF CERTIORARI

---

Tricia A. Blanchette  
PO Box 2147  
Leesville, SC 29070  
(803) 908-3266

Attorney for Petitioner

## ISSUES PRESENTED

- I. Whether the lower court erred by failing to find that that trial counsel was deficient in how he handled the matter of Petitioner's mental health to the degree that the outcome of the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result.
- II. Whether the lower court erred by not finding that trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance of counsel when he failed to conduct a proper independent investigation into State's position regarding Petitioner's whereabouts in the hours prior to the incident.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

In a Post Conviction Relief Appeal, great deference is given to the lower court's findings of fact but deference is not given to conclusions of law. Smalls v. State, 810 S.E.2d 836 (2018). The existence of "any evidence" of probative value is sufficient to uphold the lower court's ruling on findings of fact. Webb v. State, 281 S.C. 237, 314 S.E.2d 839 (1984). Questions of law are reviewed *de novo*, and the appellate court "will reverse the decision of the PCR court when it is controlled by an error of law." Goins v. State, 397 S.C. 568, 573, 726 S.E.2d 1, 3 (2012).

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner is presently confined in the South Carolina Department of Corrections pursuant to orders of commitment from the Lexington County Clerk of Court. During the August 2010 term of the Lexington County Grand Jury, Petitioner was indicted for murder (2010-GS-32-02318). During the May 2011 term of Lexington County Grand Jury, Petitioner was indicted for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime (2011-GS-32-01440) and for carrying a firearm onto the premises of a business selling alcohol for on-premises consumption (2011-GS-32-01444).

On May 31, 2011, Petitioner proceeded to trial in front of the Honorable Knox R. McMahon and a jury. Petitioner was represented by Wayne Floyd, Esquire. The State was

represented by D. Shawn Graham, Assistant Solicitor, and Alton H. Eargle, Assistant Solicitor. On June 3, 2011, the jury returned a guilty verdict on voluntary manslaughter and the weapons charges. The Honorable Knox R. McMahon sentenced Petitioner to a term of twenty-five years for voluntary manslaughter and concurrent terms of five years for each weapons charge.

A timely notice of appeal was filed on Petitioner's behalf and was perfected by the Honorable Blake A. Hewitt and John S. Nichols, Esquire.<sup>1</sup> The South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed Petitioner's convictions and sentences. State v. Torrence, 2013-UP-152 (S.C. Ct. App. filed April 10, 2013). Certiorari was sought in the South Carolina Supreme Court and denied on November 7, 2014.

On June 1, 2015, an Application for Post Conviction Relief was filed. Respondent filed a Return on July 12, 2017. Petitioner through counsel filed an Amendment to Application for Post Conviction Relief on July 13, 2017. Petitioner, through counsel, filed a superseding Amendment on October 26, 2018, which stated the following:

By and through his undersigned counsel, Applicant would move to amend his Application for Post Conviction Relief. In general, Applicant would allege that his rights pursuant to the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution, as well as pursuant to Article I, Section 14 of the South Carolina Constitution, were violated prior to and during his trial. Applicant would further amend his Application for Post-Conviction Relief to contain the following specific allegations of ineffective assistance of trial and appellate counsel:

1. Ineffective assistance of trial counsel regarding Applicant's mental health:
  - a. Trial counsel was ineffective for failing to properly utilize mental health experts prior to and during trial.
  - b. Trial counsel was ineffective for failing to develop a mental health defense and/or utilize experts in mitigation in a plea and/or trial.
  - c. Trial counsel was ineffective for utilizing Applicant as a witness at trial without a mental health expert.
2. Trial counsel was ineffective for failing to prepare and investigate prior to trial. Specifically, but not limited to:

---

<sup>1</sup> The Honorable Blake A. Hewitt was elected to the South Carolina Court of Appeals in February 2019.

- a. Trial counsel was ineffective for failing to obtain the incident report and/or video surveillance from Applicant's place of employment to refute and/or impeach the State's witnesses regarding Applicant's whereabouts during the hours prior to the shooting at issue.
  - b. Alternatively, prosecutorial misconduct if said report was available or known to the prosecution and not turned over to the defense.
3. Ineffective assistance of counsel for the handling of the defense prior to and during trial:
- a. Trial counsel was ineffective for failing to question and/or obtain additional video footage from the scene.
  - b. Trial counsel was ineffective for failing to properly prepare to utilize the in car video at trial.
  - c. Trial counsel was ineffective for failing to fully cross-examine the State's witnesses at trial.
  - d. Trial counsel was ineffective for failing to address the matter of bias at trial.<sup>2</sup>
  - e. Trial counsel was ineffective for failing to ensure that the court gave a curative instruction following his objection to the State's closing argument. Transcript p. 678, 680-82. Additionally, ineffective assistance for not making an objection to the Solicitor's characterization of the victim as a "hero." Transcript p. 579, 678.
  - f. Trial counsel was ineffective regarding the Court's charge, for the following but not limited to:
    - 1) for failing to obtain an accident and involuntary manslaughter charge;
    - 2) for failing to object to the contemptuous language charge;
    - 3) for failing to request a more detailed charge on citizen's arrest; and
    - 4) for failing to request a jury charge on the difference between "acting lawfully" and being "lawfully armed in self-defense."
4. Trial counsel was ineffective for failing to properly address the issues of docket manipulation and the use of Applicant's prior conviction at trial.
5. Appellate counsel was ineffective for, but not limited to, the following:
- a. Failing to raise all meritorious issues on appeal:
    - i. The trial court's denial of the defense's request to question Mr. Narang about the aggressive nature of the victim. Transcript p. 201.
    - ii. Trial counsel's arguments regarding the issues of docket manipulation and the use of Applicant's prior conviction. Transcript pp. 451-64.
    - iii. The trial court's denial of the directed verdict motion. Transcript p. 408-10.
    - iv. Trial court's denial of the admission of the in car video. Transcript pp. 440-43, 460, 584-86.

---

<sup>2</sup> This issue was abandoned on the record at the evidentiary hearing. App. p. 1192.

- v. Trial court's refusal to charge accident. Transcript pp. 616-617.
- vi. Trial counsel's motions and arguments regarding prosecutorial misconduct.

- 6. Pursuant to Rule 15(b), SCRCF, Applicant would move to amend to conform to the evidence and testimony presented at the evidentiary hearing.

On November 5-6, 2018, an evidentiary hearing was convened at the Lexington County Courthouse in front of the Honorable Walton J. McCleod, IV.<sup>3</sup> Petitioner was present and represented by Tricia A. Blanchette, Esquire. Respondent was represented by Kelly Oppenheimer, Assistant Attorney General, and Sherri Butterbaugh, Assistant Attorney General.

During the hearing, Petitioner called Dr. Tora Brawley, Dr. Donna Maddox, Wayne Floyd, Esquire, the Honorable Blake A. Hewitt, Pete Skidmore, and Brenda Torrence to the stand. Respondent called Shawn Graham, Esquire, and recalled Wayne Floyd, Esquire. Petitioner introduced thirteen exhibits, and Respondent introduced one exhibit.

At the close of the evidentiary hearing, the lower court allowed the parties time to obtain the evidentiary hearing transcript. While the request for the transcript was pending, the court requested proposed orders from both parties. Thereafter, the lower court issued an Order of Dismissal on April 22, 2019. On May 6, 2019, Petitioner through counsel filed a Motion Pursuant to Rule 59 (a) & (e), SCRCF. On May 28, 2019, Respondent filed a Return. On May 31, 2019, an Order Denying Applicant's Motion Pursuant to Rule 59(a) & (e), SCRCF, was issued and filed. A timely Notice of Appeal was filed, from which this Petition follows.

---

<sup>3</sup> On April 16, 2018, a motion and/or scheduling hearing was held in front of the Honorable William A. McKinnon at the Lexington County Courthouse. App. p. 918. Petitioner was present and represented by Tricia A. Blanchette, Esquire. Respondent was represented by Sherri Butterbaugh, Assistant Attorney General. During the hearing, testimony was offered by Dr. Donna Maddox. The transcript of this hearing was provided to the lower court for his review. App. p. 953.

## ARGUMENT

The Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution guarantee criminal defendants the right to the effective assistance of counsel. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). To establish a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, applicant must prove that "counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result." Id. 466 U.S. at 686; see Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441 (1985). The proper measure of performance is whether counsel provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. The courts presume that counsel rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 691. The applicant must overcome this presumption in order to receive relief. Bell v. State, 321 S.C. 238 (1996).

A two-pronged test is applied in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. First, applicant must prove that counsel's performance was deficient. Under this prong, the court measures an attorney's performance by its "reasonableness under prevailing professional norms." Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117 (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688). Second, counsel's deficient performance must have prejudiced applicant such that "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117-18.

- I. The lower court erred by failing to find that that trial counsel was deficient in how he handled the matter of Petitioner's mental health to the degree that the outcome of the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result.

By way of an Amendment, Petitioner alleged ineffective assistance of trial counsel regarding matters related to his mental health. Via a proposed Order and Rule 59, SCRPC, Motion, Petitioner argued that trial counsel was deficient in how he handled the matter of mental health to

the degree that the outcome of the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result. Nevertheless, the lower court errantly denied relief regarding Petitioner's mental health allegations and held that trial counsel offered a valid trial strategy for not properly utilizing a mental health expert prior to and during trial. App. pp. 1551-1556.

To establish how the lower court's findings are not supported by the evidence, the pertinent testimony must be addressed as it is largely omitted from the standing Order. As Petitioner's first witness, Dr. Tora Brawley was called to the stand, and she was qualified as a neuropsychology expert. App. pp. 958-61. She briefly explained neuropsychology, and she acknowledged that she conducted a neuropsychological examination on Petitioner at the request of Dr. Maddox to assess his cognitive function. App. pp. 961-2. Dr. Brawley detailed the clinical interview she conducted during which Petitioner informed her that he was "under remote neuromonitoring and this was affecting the way he was thinking." App. p. 963, lns. 17-25. Specifically, she quoted him as saying: "They're doing inserts on me right now." App. p. 962, ln. 1-2. She explained he reported concentration loss, memory loss, word finding difficulties, forgetting recent conversations, repeating himself, irritability, decreased tolerance and not believing his mother that his father had recently died. App. p. 964.

Dr. Brawley detailed the tests she administered and her findings. App. pp. 964-66. She testified that Petitioner performed "perfectly" on the test of memory malingering, and she determined that he was not malingering or exaggerating. App. pp. 966, 969-70. She further testified that no inconsistencies were noted in her testing, so she did not have concerns with the validity of her test results. App. p. 966. In summary, she provided her findings, as follows: "He's having moderate to severe deficits in several cognitive domains, which is suggestive of brain organicity. He's also reporting some unusual symptoms that I talked about, as well as some vegetative

symptoms.” App. p. 967, ln. 23 – p. 968, ln. 2. She further explained that the term “brain organicity” means “it appears that there may be some areas of brain damage or areas of the brain that aren’t working as well as they should.” App. p. 968, ln. 23 – p. 969, ln. 3.

She agreed that she would have been willing to work on Petitioner’s case if contacted prior to his trial. PCR. p. 29. When asked if she could determine if Petitioner’s deficits were present at the time of the crime, she responded: “Yes. It’s highly likely that, yes, those were present at the time. He has – he had – he had a history of several concussions as well as spinal meningitis, so, certainly, those could have impacted brain function.” App. p. 970, lns. 7-19.

On cross-examination, she agreed that she could not say to “a degree of medical certainty that he did exhibit these deficits at the time of the crime.” App. p. 972, lns. 6-9. Yet, she explained that there are “certain areas of functioning that are considered crystalized, meaning they hold through early dementia or head injuries and things like that.” App. p. 972, lns. 17-23. Thereafter, she again went through the battery of tests she administered to Petitioner. App. pp. 972-74. When asked if it was possible that Petitioner could have declined in functioning while incarcerated, she responded:

- I usually do not see that. Usually they get better in prison because they’re in a structured environment, they’re getting three squares a day. It’s usually just the opposite. They either stabilize or get a little bit better. It’s highly, highly unusual that they decline, unless they’ve been in fights or, you know, had some kind of injury or illness.

App. p. 974, ln. 23- p. 975, ln. 5.

Following Dr. Brawley, Dr. Donna Schwartz Maddox was called to the stand, and she was qualified as forensic psychiatry expert. App. pp. 978, 981. She recalled being originally retained by Wayne Floyd, Esquire, to evaluate Petitioner at the Lexington County Detention Center in

2010.<sup>1</sup> App. p. 982. She recalled speaking with Brenda Torrence after the evaluation and learning about Petitioner's "significant" history, which she explained. App. pp. 982-3. She recalled recommending counsel utilize Dr. Brawley for neuropsychological testing since she identified "symptoms consistent with organicity."<sup>2</sup> App. pp. 982-3, 1018. She did not recall having further contact with Mr. Floyd, but she did recall being contacted by Mrs. Torrence following Petitioner's trial. App. 983. When asked by Mrs. Torrence about her absence from Petitioner's trial, she recalled responding that she was unaware that his trial had commenced. App. pp. 983-4. If she had known about Petitioner's trial, she responded that she "absolutely" would have been willing to assist Mr. Floyd, which would have included having testing done by Dr. Brawley. App. p. 984. She said she would have been "glad" to assist and felt she would have been "helpful." App. p. 1006, Ins. 13-17.

Dr. Maddox addressed the items she reviewed in 2010 and prior to the evidentiary hearing. App. pp. 985-89. She addressed a history of "two major brain insults" that predated Petitioner's offense and the most significant events from his history. App. p. 987-8. She recalled Petitioner did not present symptoms of psychosis in 2010, but she conceded she may have missed it if he was psychotic at the time. App. p. 988, Ins. 1-5. When she met with Petitioner in 2016, she found him to be psychotic. App. p. 989. She explained the "delusions" he endorsed to her, which included remote neuromonitoring and the belief that the victim and his father are not deceased. App. pp. 991-3. She went over the tests she administered to Petitioner and her findings. App. pp. 993-6. Since Petitioner was intoxicated at the time of his offense, it was her opinion he would have been

---

<sup>1</sup> She explained that she was testifying from memory since her records were no longer available from 2010 since her file was turned over to appellate counsel and could not be recreated. App. pp. 982, 990-91

<sup>2</sup> On redirect, she stated that she told counsel Petitioner had impairment and needed neuropsychological testing. App. p. 1018, Ins. 16-23. She agreed that it would have been premature for her to issue a report or make a diagnosis following one meeting since she did not have the information needed for a diagnosis. App. p. 1019, Ins. 16-22.

precluded from a guilty but mentally ill defense.<sup>3</sup> App. p. 988, Ins. 17-25, 997. Yet, she explained her findings could have been utilized in plea negotiations, mitigation and sentencing. App. pp. 984-5, 997-8. Specifically, she addressed how his numerous impairments and underlying organicity affected his judgment, such as making him impulsive or irritable. App. p. 998. She clarified: “But when I say impulsive, it’s being driven by a brain disorder, not just a conscious choice.” App. p. 998, Ins. 21-23.

Turning to the matter of competency, she opined Petitioner was competent when she saw him in 2010. App. p. 999, Ins. 10-11. She stated that she would have needed to see him the morning of his testimony to evaluate him. App. pp. 1019-1020. She explained he reported suffering from hallucinations and effects of the remote neuromonitoring during his trial testimony. App pp. 999-1000. She also addressed that he was suffering from the delusion that the victim was not dead. App. p. 1000, 1006. Regarding this delusion, she explained:

My concern was more his competency to testify. To testify in court, you have to know the difference between truth and a lie. And, unfortunately, when you have delusions, you believe things that may not be true. And just similar to the hearing that we had last year, I would have had concerns about his ability to differentiate delusional thinking from the truth.

App. p. 1000, Ins. 16-23. She addressed how a delusion that the victim was not dead could have “affected his capacity to assist in his defense” and “his rational competency.” App. p. 1006, Ins. 1-7. She also addressed how hallucinating could “affect his capacity to assist in his defense because he’s listening to hallucinations instead of testimony.” App. p. 1006, Ins. 1-7. She explained that she did not hear back from Mr. Floyd after their phone call and that she would have been “glad” to assist further and felt she could be “helpful.” App. p. 1006, Ins. 13-17. As to Petitioner’s competency to testify as the evidentiary hearing, she opined that he was not competent to testify,

---

<sup>3</sup> Yet, she explained how the alcohol exacerbated all of his underlying pathology. App. p. 999, Ins. 1-3.

and she had advised counsel accordingly.<sup>4</sup> App. pp. 1000-1001. In sum, she provided her diagnosis, as follows:

Your Honor, for his psychosis, I'm calling it unspecified schizophrenia and psychotic spectrum disorder. The DSM-5 -- the DSM keeps changing, so every edition, the unspecified kind of changes nuances. But what that means is I can't tell whether the psychosis is coming from his traumatic brain injury -- you can have traumatic brain injuries and develop psychosis later over time -- or if he, indeed, is very unfortunate and has both organicity and schizophrenia. So I left it in the unspecified characterization because I'm not sure. And at this point, I don't think anyone could be sure.

Then I also diagnosed him based on Dr. Brawley's testing with what's called a major neurocognitive impairment. And it's secondary to his history of meningitis, his history of closed head injuries, and also alcohol abuse over the years that he could contribute to that. And that means that he's got cognitive impairment in, I believe, it's four areas which Dr. Brawley mentioned: The concentration, the attention, the working memory, some verbal learning, those sorts of areas that she has already testified to. And then, of course, I diagnosed him with alcohol abuse disorder.

App. p. 1001, ln. 21- p. 1002, ln. 21.

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