STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

MAR 06 2020

S.C. SUPREME COURT

CERTIORARI TO LEXINGTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
The Honorable Walton J. McLeod, IV, PCR Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-001060

ANDREW E. TORRENCE,

PETITIONER,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

LILLIAN L. MEADOWS
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 103665

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

- I. The PCR court correctly found Counsel was not ineffective for failing to pursue a mental health defense or otherwise utilize mental health experts at trial where Petitioner was found competent to stand trial and Counsel had no indication Petitioner was insane at the time of the crime.**

Petitioner contends that “trial counsel’s failure to properly address Petitioner’s mental health *infected every aspect of Petitioner’s defense* in such a way that it was not reasonable trial strategy . . .” (Pet. 11–12) (emphasis added). Petitioner further contends that the PCR court “erred by failing to find that trial counsel was deficient in how he handled the matter of mental health to the degree that the outcome of the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result. (Pet. 1–2). Petitioner relies on the deterioration in his present mental health as evidence of his condition in 2011, despite the fact that these conditions were not observable at the time of trial.

Petitioner’s strained interpretation of *Strickland* ignores the testimony of his own expert, Dr. Maddox, who evaluated Petitioner before trial, and reported to Counsel that she had no concerns regarding Petitioner’s competency to stand trial or mental status at the time of the crime. *See Bell v. Thompson*, 545 U.S. 794, 809 (2005) (recognizing that opinions conducted after post-trial deterioration are not likely to alter ruling denying relief). Reliance on this “harsh light of hindsight” to cast doubt on a trial that took place almost nine years ago is precisely what *Strickland* sought to prevent. *Bell v. Cone*, 535 U.S. 685, 702 (2002); *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 689 (explaining that “fair assessment” of counsel’s representation requires the reviewing court make “every effort to . . . eliminate distorting effects of hindsight”). Nonetheless, Petitioner’s preferred strategy, concocted with the benefit of hindsight, grows out of his baseless contention that his alleged mental health issues would have exonerated him from killing Zachary Chapin. This Court should deny certiorari and there by “decline to allow an ineffective assistance of counsel claim to create a

situation where post-conviction attorneys stroll in with the full benefit of hindsight to second-guess trial lawyers who professionally discharge their duties to their clients under the manifold pressures of a state trial.” *Mazzell v. Evatt*, 88 F.3d 263, 269 (4th Cir. 1996).

A. Petitioner’s Mental Health History

At the PCR hearing, Petitioner presented the testimony of Dr. Tora L. Brawley, Ph.D., and Dr. Donna Schwartz-Maddox, M.D.

2010

Dr. Maddox, an expert in forensic psychiatry, was initially retained by Counsel in 2010 to evaluate Petitioner.⁴ (App. 982). During that time, Dr. Maddox spoke with Petitioner’s mother about his prior history of concussions from playing football in high school and being struck by a vehicle during a hit-and-run. (App. 982). Ms. Torrence also reported that, shortly before the crime, Petitioner had received lumbar punctures to treat encephalitis. (App. 982).

Dr. Maddox met with Petitioner in 2010 at the Lexington County Detention Center for his evaluation. (App. 982). She “did not detect any symptoms of psychosis” nor did she observe any evidence that Petitioner was psychotic at that time. (App. 1011). Petitioner did not report experiencing any hallucinations nor was Dr. Maddox aware of any history of inpatient or outpatient psychiatric treatment. (App. 987). Dr. Maddox’s only concern was that Petitioner showed “symptoms consistent with some organicity,” including difficulty with memory and verbal fluency. (App. 983). In light of Petitioner’s past head injuries and encephalitis, Dr. Maddox recommended neuropsychological testing, which would “show where [Petitioner’s] brain had deficits” and allow her properly diagnose him. (App. 997, 1019). Dr. Maddox recalled one phone

⁴ As stated in the Petition, Dr. Maddox explained that she was testifying from memory—her records from the 2010 evaluation were no longer available. (App. 982). Dr. Maddox turned her chart over to appellate counsel during the direct appeal, which got “lost in the mix” and could not be recreated. (App. 990).

conversation with Counsel where they discussed her findings and recommendations. (App. 983). However, Dr. Maddox had no further communication about Petitioner's case until she spoke with his mother after the trial in 2011. (App. 983).

2016

Dr. Maddox was subsequently retained to assist in Petitioner's PCR, and saw him for the second time in March of 2016. (App. 1018). At that time, Dr. Maddox stated that Petitioner's "mental state had dramatically changed" since 2010, and that he was presenting "classic symptoms of psychosis." (App. 989). Dr. Maddox reviewed Petitioner's records from the South Carolina Department of Corrections, which contained reports of similar symptoms beginning in 2016. (App. 989).

Shortly thereafter, Dr. Brawley, an expert in clinical psychology and neuropsychology, evaluated Petitioner's cognitive functioning at the request of Dr. Maddox. (App. 962). Dr. Brawley explained that neuropsychologists examine brain function and how it effects behavior. (App. 962). Dr. Brawley conducted an extended clinical interview and administered a battery of psychological tests to Petitioner as part of her assessment. (App. 962–63).

During this interview, Petitioner informed Dr. Brawley that he was "under remote neuro-monitoring and that this was affecting the way he was thinking." (App. 963). Petitioner reported problems with memory loss, irritability, paranoia, and weight gain. (App. 964). Dr. Brawley testified in detail regarding her findings based on Petitioner's test results, explaining that each test measures different areas of brain function. (App. 964–67). Dr. Brawley concluded that Petitioner suffered from "moderate to severe deficits in cognitive domains, suggestive of brain organicity." (App. 967). In other words, "it appears that there may be some areas of brain damage or areas of the brain that aren't working as well as they should." (App. 969). Dr. Brawley recommended a full

neurological evaluation and provided her report to Dr. Maddox. (App. 968).

2017

In June of 2017, Dr. Maddox conducted a full evaluation of Petitioner after reviewing evidence from the case including witness statements, surveillance videos, prior neurology clinic notes, emergency department records emails between attorneys, medical records of the victims, 911 calls, the results of Dr. Brawley's testing, and Petitioner's medical records from SCDC. (App. 986–987). Dr. Maddox noted that she was unable to obtain any family history records since Petitioner was adopted. (App. 987). Dr. Maddox testified that Petitioner's prior head injuries and alcohol abuse were of particular significance in her evaluation. (App. 988).

Dr. Maddox explained that Petitioner currently suffers from “delusions” and believes a remote neuro-monitoring system has been implanted in his brain. (App 931, 991). Petitioner told Dr. Maddox originally that he believed his mother was involved in the monitoring, possibly to help stop his alcohol abuse (App. 991). Petitioner now believes that the government is involved in the neuro-monitoring system, which controls his actions, words, and thoughts. (App. 932). Petitioner reported that the system's “voices” tell him how to act, make him agitated, and affect his ability to function. (App. 992). Dr. Maddox further explained that Petitioner does not believe the victim or his father are dead. (App. 993). Dr. Maddox then testified to the mental status examination—his clean hygiene, rapid rate of speech, jumping from one topic to another and coming back to certain topics, and his disbelief that he is mentally ill. App. 994–95).

Dr. Maddox testified that she ultimately diagnosed Petitioner with three separate disorders. For the psychosis, she diagnosed him with unspecified schizophrenia and psychotic spectrum disorder. (App. 1001). Dr. Maddox explained that she characterized the schizophrenia as “unspecified” because she “can't tell whether the psychosis is coming from his traumatic brain

injury—you can have traumatic brain injuries and develop psychosis over time—or if he, indeed, is very unfortunate and has both organicity and schizophrenia.” (App. 1001–02). Based on Dr. Brawley’s testing, Dr. Maddox also diagnosed Petitioner with a “major neurocognitive impairment,” secondary to his history of meningitis, his history of closed-head injuries, and alcohol abuse. (App. 1002). Finally, Dr. Maddox diagnosed Petitioner with alcohol abuse disorder based on his longstanding history of alcohol abuse over the years. (App. 1002).

2018

Before Dr. Maddox completed her formal report, an issue arose regarding Petitioner’s competency to take the stand at his PCR hearing. (App. 922). Specifically, PCR counsel became concerned when Petitioner was moved to a different correctional facility in February 2018. (App. 911). The move apparently caused Petitioner great distress, and PCR counsel was concerned that his mental state had deteriorated to the point where he could not actively assist her in preparing for his PCR. (App. 911).

Dr. Maddox then met with Petitioner in March and April. Based on these evaluations, Dr. Maddox testified that it was her opinion, to a reasonable degree of medical certainty that, Petitioner was not competent to testify at the PCR hearing. (App 931–32). Dr. Maddox explained that Petitioner is presently unable to tell the difference between a truth and a lie, particularly due to his fixed beliefs about the neuro-monitoring system and resulting paranoia. (App. 932).

B. The PCR court correctly concluded Counsel was not ineffective for failing to pursue a mental health defense because Counsel reasonably pursued a trial strategy based on Petitioner’s position he was attempting to effectuate a citizen’s arrest on the victim and shot him in self-defense.

In accordance with *Strickland*, “[c]ounsel in criminal cases are charged with the responsibility of conducting ‘appropriate investigations, both factual and legal, to determine if matters of defense can be developed.’” *U.S. v. Mooney*, 497 F.3d 397, 400 (4th Cir. 2007).

Strickland, however, requires trial counsel be given leeway to make reasonable strategic decisions—judicial scrutiny of counsel’s performance “must be highly deferential,” judged “on the facts of the particular case,” and considered “from counsel’s perspective at the time.” 466 U.S. at 689–690. Thus, counsel’s “strategic choices made after thorough investigation . . . are virtually unchallengeable; and strategic choices made after less than complete investigation are reasonable precisely to the extent that reasonable professional judgments support the limitations on investigation.” *Id.* at 690–91.

Here, the PCR court correctly found Counsel was not ineffective in declining to further investigate Petitioner’s mental health and Counsel’s decision not to pursue a mental health defense at trial was reasonable. Following the evaluation of Petitioner prior to trial, Dr. Maddox reported to Counsel that she had no concerns about Petitioner’s competency or mental health. (App. 1089). Counsel at that point reasonably decided not to further utilize Dr. Maddox’s services since she could not provide anything useful at trial on the issue of guilt or innocence. (App. 1029). *See Wilson v. Greene*, 155 F.3d 396, 403 (4th Cir. 1998) (“To be reasonably effective, counsel was not required to second-guess the contents of [their expert’s] report. . . . [C]ounsel understandably decided not to spend valuable time pursuing what appeared to be an unfruitful line of investigation.”) (internal citations omitted).

Nonetheless, Petitioner contends Counsel’s decision not to utilize Dr. Maddox at trial is “troubling” since Counsel did not inform Petitioner’s mother of this decision and because Dr. Maddox’s name appeared on the witness list. (Pet. 11). Counsel explained that putting someone’s name on the witness list does not mean he is going to call them at trial. (App. 1090). “A lot of times,” Counsel explained, witnesses are put on the list “just in case something comes up or just because you want to have a smokescreen” up to hide “who you’re really going to call.” (App.

1091). *See Reeves v. State*, 415 S.C. 366, 377, 782 S.E.2d 747, 752 (Ct. App. 2015) (“Where counsel articulates a valid trial strategy for failing to call an expert witness to testify at trial, such conduct will not be deemed ineffective.”).

Strickland further explains that “the reasonableness of counsel’s actions may be determined or substantially influenced by the defendant’s own statements or actions.” *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 691. In particular, counsel’s investigative decisions are often based on information supplied by the defendant. *Id.* Notwithstanding Dr. Maddox’s report, Counsel further testified that insanity was not a viable defense because Petitioner consistently maintained he did not intend to kill the victim, that he was attempting to make a citizen’s arrest, and shot the victim in self-defense. (App. 1092). *See Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 691 (“[W]hen the facts that support a certain potential line of defense are generally known to counsel because of what the defendant has said, the need for further investigation may be considerably diminished or eliminated altogether.”). Counsel developed a theme based on this position, which was wholly consistent with the information Petitioner supplied to Counsel and what Petitioner testified to at trial. (App. 1105). To present simultaneously a defense that Petitioner was insane or lacked the mens rea to commit the crime would have undermined Petitioner’s requested strategy and undercut his own credibility.

Counsel testified that he spoke with Petitioner at length in preparing for trial—Petitioner appeared to understand his charges, the law, and the defense strategy as Counsel explained it to him. (App. 1088–89). Other than speaking with Petitioner, Counsel testified that his investigation consisted of studying the evidence, going to the scene, and speaking with potential witnesses. (App. 1041). Counsel also explored the possibility of challenging other portions of the State’s cause, including the victim’s cause of death. (App. 1039). Counsel thus made a diligent effort to pursue promising lines of investigation, and Petitioner’s present attempt to challenge Counsel’s

decision not to investigate mental health issues more fully is “a product of hindsight and fails to address the facts reasonably relied upon by counsel at the time.” *Roach v. Martin*, 757 F.2d 1463, 1478 (4th Cir.1985).

C. The PCR court correctly concluded Counsel was not ineffective for failing to pursue a mental health defense because no evidence was presented that Petitioner was insane at the time he committed the crimes and because Petitioner’s alcohol intoxication at the time of the crimes precluded Counsel from pursuing an insanity defense or guilty but mentally ill verdict.

Counsel may reasonably rely on his own perceptions in determining what, if any, expert evaluation is necessary and appropriate to the determination and development of defenses. *See Jeter v. State*, 308 S.C. 230, 233, 417 S.E.2d 594, 596 (1992) (finding counsel reasonably relied on his own perceptions in deciding to not request a mental examination which may have formed the basis of an insanity defense or a determination of incompetency). To show prejudice for failure to pursue an insanity defense, a PCR applicant must produce some evidence of insanity or show that with the exercise of due diligence, an insanity defense could have been developed. *Jeter*, 308 S.C. at 233–34, 417 S.E.2d at 596. In other words, to find counsel ineffective, *Strickland* requires an applicant to demonstrate a reasonable probability he was insane at the time of commission of the crime.

In South Carolina, “the M’Naughten test is the standard for determining whether a defendant’s mental condition at the time of the offense rendered him criminally responsible.” *State v. South*, 310 S.C. 504, 508, 427 S.E.2d 666, 669 (1993). This Court has made it abundantly clear that the only relevant inquiry in this State of whether an accused is criminally responsible for his actions is whether he, “as a result of mental disease or defect, lacked the capacity to distinguish moral or legal right from moral or legal wrong or to recognize the particular act charged as morally or legally wrong.” *State v. Senter*, 396 S.C. 547, 552, 722 S.E.2d 233, 236 (Ct. App. 2011) (quoting

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